A.   ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR. 

 1.  The court denied Mr. O’Cain his right to present a defense 

and to the protections of the Fourth Amendment and article I, sections 7 

and 22 by refusing to review the sufficiency of the search warrant or 

give Mr. O’Cain access to information critical to challenging the search 

warrant. 

 2.  The court violated Mr. O’Cain’s right not to be punished 

multiple times for the same offense by imposing separate convictions 

for the same conduct and same offense, contrary to the double jeopardy 

provisions of the Fifth Amendment and article I, section 9. 

 3.  The court violated the prohibition on double jeopardy by 

imposing multiple convictions for possessing the same controlled 

substance at the same time and place and with the same intent. 

 4.  The prosecution failed to prove six separate offenses 

occurred based on the essential elements as set forth in the to-convict 

jury instructions, in violation of the Fourteenth Amendment and articles 

3, 21, and 22 of the Washington Constitution. CP 148-53 (Instructions 

16-21). 
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B.    ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR. 

 1.  When the State uses a confidential informant’s allegations to 

obtain a search warrant and refuses to disclose any information about 

the investigation, the defense may request that the court conduct a 

hearing, including an in camera review, if there are grounds to doubt 

the veracity and accuracy of claims material to the search warrant. Did 

the court erroneously refuse Mr. O’Cain’s request for a hearing on the 

inconsistencies in the search warrant when the State refused to reveal 

any information about the investigation to the defense? 

 2.  It violates double jeopardy to punish a person multiple times 

for several offenses that constitute a single unit of prosecution. The unit 

of prosecution is defined by the statute and the circumstances of the 

case. Mr. O’Cain was punished multiple times for possessing several 

controlled substances at the identical time and place and having the 

same intent to jointly distribute these substances. Do these multiple 

convictions violate double jeopardy? 

 3.  The essential elements that the prosecution must prove are 

defined by the jury instructions and any additional elements added 

without objection become the law of the case. When the to-convict 

instruction requires the prosecution prove six instances of separate and 



 3 

distinct conduct to establish each offense, but there is evidence of only 

a single act of joint possession of several controlled substances, has the 

State failed to prove the essential elements of the offense as required by 

the jury instructions? 

 4.  When a person possesses a single controlled substance at the 

same time with the same intent, and the drug is stored in two locations 

within a single apartment, it constitutes a single unit of prosecution for 

purposes of double jeopardy. The court imposed separate convictions 

for Mr. O’Cain’s possession of the same drugs inside his apartment at 

the same time because some were in his pocket and some in his closet. 

Did the court’s imposition of separate convictions for a single unit of 

prosecution violate double jeopardy? 

 C.    STATEMENT OF THE CASE. 

  On October 14, 2013, several police officers saw James O’Cain 

drive to his apartment, park his car, and walk into his home with his 

wife. 3RP 250-51.1 After Mr. O’Cain and his wife entered their home, 

the officers stopped them because they had a warrant to search Mr. 

O’Cain and the apartment. 3RP 251. In his coat pocket, the police 

                                            
1
 The verbatim report of proceedings consists of five volumes of 

consecutively paginated transcripts.  
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found “some narcotics and some money.” 3RP 252, 254. The narcotics 

in his pocket consisted of a clear plastic bag with several small rocks of 

crack cocaine, small yellow bindles of individually packaged heroin, 

and three small plastic baggies of methamphetamine. 3RP 255, 259, 

262; 4RP 426, 427, 430.  

A drug-sniffing trained police dog walked around Mr. O’Cain’s 

cars and inside his apartment. 3RP 345-46. The dog “alerted” to an 

odor inside a safe in cabinet in the bedroom closet. 3RP 349. The dog 

did not “alert” to any odors in Mr. O’Cain’s car. 3RP 354, 356-57. The 

only other “alert” inside the home was for a small marijuana cigarette in 

another bedroom. 3RP 352. 

The closet cabinet held a locked safe that the police opened with 

a key they took from Mr. O’Cain. 3RP 365. Inside the safe, the police 

found “a collection of narcotics,” including larger quantities of cocaine, 

heroin, and methamphetamine, along with several scales and some 

plastic wrapping similar to that used to package the drugs in Mr. 

O’Cain’s pocket. 3RP 376-77, 384-86, 390-92; 4RP 431-35. 

The prosecution charged Mr. O’Cain with six counts of 

possession of a controlled substance with the intent to deliver. CP 9-10. 

Mr. O’Cain attempted to investigate the allegations used to obtain the 
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search warrant, but the detective who prepared the warrant refused to 

disclose any information. CP 12; 1RP 6. The detective said a secret, 

paid informant had purchased drugs from Mr. O’Cain but would not 

disclose this paid informer’s identity, the dates the unnamed informer 

claimed to have bought drugs from Mr. O’Cain, or give further details 

about the alleged drug sales that formed the basis of the warrant, 

claiming the need to keep the informant’s identity secret. CP 12-13, 

108-117; 1RP 22, 27, 31. In response, Mr. O’Cain filed a motion for the 

court to conduct an ex parte review of the information used to obtain 

the search warrant or otherwise require disclose from the State. CP 14-

16. Mr. O’Cain alleged there was evidence of inconsistencies and a 

basis to suspect falsehoods in the search warrant application sufficient 

to justify further inquiry by the court into the factual basis of the 

warrant. CP 11-93. The court refused to conduct any ex parte review 

and rejected Mr. O’Cain’s request for further discovery about the 

identity of the paid informant or the details of the police investigation. 

CP 94-95; 1RP 30; 2RP 83. 

Mr. O’Cain was convicted after a jury trial of six counts of 

possession of a controlled substance with the intent to deliver. CP 163-

68. The prosecution agreed that the six counts constituted the same 
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criminal conduct so they would not count separately in Mr. O’Cain’s 

offender score. CP 176. The judge imposed a sentence at the low end of 

the standard range and scored the six separate offenses as the same 

criminal conduct for purposes of calculating the offender score. CP 297.  

D.    ARGUMENT. 

 1.  The court’s refusal to permit Mr. O’Cain to 

litigate the unreliability of the information used to 

search his body and his home denied him his 

rights to privacy and due process. 

 

 a.  A search warrant may not be shielded from challenge by 

hiding the basis of the warrant.   

 

The Fourth and Fourteenth Amendments of the United States 

Constitution and Article I, §§ 3 and 7 of the Washington Constitution 

protect citizens from unreasonable searches and seizures and provide 

that a search warrant may only be issued upon a showing of probable 

cause. Kyllo v. United States, 533 U.S. 27, 40, 121 S. Ct. 2038, 150 L. 

Ed. 2d 94 (2001); State v. Thein, 138 Wn.2d 133, 140, 977 P.2d 582 

(1999); U.S. Const. amends. 42 & 14; Wash. Const. Art. I, §§ 3,3 7.4   

                                            
2
 The Fourth Amendment provides:  

The right of the people to be secure in their persons, houses, 

papers, and effects, against unreasonable searches and seizures, 

shall not be violated, and no warrants shall issue, but upon 

probable cause, supported by oath or affirmation, and 

particularly describing the place to be searched, and the persons 

or things to be seized.  
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When a police officer uses intentional or reckless perjury to 

secure a warrant, “a constitutional violation obviously occurs” because 

“the oath requirement implicitly guarantees that probable cause rests on 

an affiant’s good faith.” State v. Chenoweth, 160 Wn.2d 454, 473, 158 

P.3d 595 (2007), citing Franks v. Delaware, 438 U.S. 154, 155-56, 98 

S.Ct 2674, 57 L.Ed.2d 667 (1978).   

An accused person properly challenges the validity of a warrant 

by showing that the warrant affiant made intentional falsehoods or 

omitted material facts with reckless disregard for the truth. Franks, 438 

U.S. at 155-56. The defendant’s showing must be based on specific 

facts and offers of proof. State v. Garrison, 118 Wn.2d 870, 827 P.2d 

1388 (1992). 

 An accused person lacks the ability to challenge the accuracy, 

truthfulness, and reliability of a search warrant if the State refuses to 

give him access to the information the State used to secure the warrant. 

State v. Casal, 103 Wn.2d 812, 818, 699 P.2d 1234 (1985). The 

accused is unable to investigate and interview the accuser if that 

                                                                                                             
 
3
  The Fourteenth Amendment and Article 1, § 3 guarantee due process 

of law. 
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person’s identity is kept secret and he therefore “lacks access to the 

information necessary” to challenge a search warrant. Id. The State’s 

authority to maintain the secrecy of an informant’s identity must yield 

to the defendant’s right to investigate the allegations against him in 

certain circumstances. Id. at 816. The trial judge has discretion to 

decide whether the defendant’s interest in disclosure outweighs the 

State’s interest in not disclosing information to the defense. Id.  

 In Casal, the court endorsed “a simple solution” for a defendant 

faced with a secret informer. Id. at 818. The court may hold an in 

camera, ex parte hearing. Id. If the defendant makes “some minimal 

showing of inconsistency” in the government’s material that supports 

their assertion of deliberate falsehood or reckless disregard for the truth, 

the court should conduct further review of the information relied upon 

in the search warrant. Id. at 819, citing United States v. Brian, 507 

F.Supp. 761, 766 (D.R.I.1981).  

                                                                                                             
4
 Article 1, § 7 of the Washington Constitution states, “No person shall 

be disturbed in his private affairs, or his home invaded, without authority of 

law.”   
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 b.  Mr. O’Cain made the threshold showing that there is 

reason to doubt the veracity of the allegations used to 

obtain a search warrant. 

 

 Mr. O’Cain was unable to investigate the allegations used to 

obtain the search warrant because the State refused to disclose any 

underlying information. 1RP 22. The detective whose observations and 

investigation form the sole basis for the search warrant application 

would not answer Mr. O’Cain’s questions or provide any information 

about the background of the investigation. CP 12; 1RP 22, 27, 31. The 

detective claimed Mr. O’Cain sold drugs to a paid informant but would 

not even reveal the dates of the alleged conduct or describe the car Mr. 

O’Cain allegedly drove to the drug sale. CP 12; 1RP 31-33; 2RP 83. 

This lack of information left O’Cain unable to investigate the veracity 

of the informant or show inaccuracies in the search warrant affidavit 

that undercut the allegations. 1RP 22, 31.  

At best, Mr. O’Cain could show that the car the detective 

alleged he drove during some of the conduct at issue was in the repair 

shop at the time and could not have been used as the detective claimed. 

1RP 31; 2RP 83; CP 119-24. In addition, although the detective’s 

search warrant application set forth his experience to bolster the 

reliability of his investigation, the detective did not tell the issuing 
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magistrate that he had been disciplined by the police department for 

lying in the past and for making racist comments when arresting an 

African-American person. CP 12-13, 108-09. Mr. O’Cain is African-

American. CP 13. 

 Mr. O’Cain argued that he had reason to doubt the veracity of 

the allegations and could show some material inconsistencies or 

inaccuracies in the search warrant. He explained that he was being 

prevented from preparing a defense and gathering any further 

information necessary to challenge the search warrant. CP 14-16; 1RP 

6-11, 22, 31-33. Citing Casal, he asked the court to hold a hearing, 

review the evidence ex parte, or require disclosure of the details of the 

investigation, including the informant’s identity. CP 14-16, 1RP 7-11, 

27, 30; 2RP 85. The court refused, ruling that Mr. O’Cain had not met 

his burden of showing there were material inconsistencies in the search 

warrant application. 1RP 30; 2RP 85. 

 The State must justify preventing the defendant from 

challenging the criminal charges by independently verifying the 

officer’s observations. State v. Darden, 145 Wn.2d 612, 625-26, 41 

P.3d 1189 (2002). For this reason, the State cannot build a case based 

on an officer’s observations yet refuse to reveal the location of the 
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officer who made the observations. Id. If the State wants to maintain 

confidentiality of an investigation, it can choose not to rely on this 

confidential information in its case. Id.  

 Likewise, an accused person has a constitutional right to cross-

examine witnesses and receives extra latitude when testing the 

credibility of essential state’s witnesses. California v. Green, 399 U.S. 

149, 158, 90 S. Ct. 1930, 26 L. Ed. 2d 489 (1970); State v Jones, 168 

Wn.2d 713, 721, 230 P.3d 576 (2010). Even if a rule of evidence limits 

an avenue of questioning, that rule must be construed in light of the 

overarching right to present a defense and “it cannot be used to bar 

evidence of extremely high probative value per the Sixth Amendment.” 

Jones, 168 Wn.2d at 723. Discovery rules permit wide latitude to be 

apprised of matters reasonably calculated to lead to admissible 

evidence. CrR 4.7(a)(3).  

 These fundamental rules and principles demonstrate the court’s 

error in refusing to review, even ex parte, the underlying the allegations 

used to obtain a search warrant. CP 94-95; 1/12/15RP 85. Mr. O’Cain 

cast doubt on the claim that each drug sale could have occurred as the 

search warrant alleged and that also showed the detective failed to 

disclose information affecting his credibility. CP 12-13, 119-24. 
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 Mr. O’Cain was entitled to at least an in camera hearing. Casal, 

103 Wn.2d at 822-23. On remand, Mr. O’Cain should be given the 

opportunity to have the court review the necessary information and 

disclose the secret discovery so that he may contest the legality of the 

search. Id. 

 2.  The six convictions for possession of a controlled 

substance with the intent to deliver constitute a 

single unit of prosecution and establish a single 

offense based on the jury’s instructions and the law 

of the case. 

 

 a.  The prosecution may not divide a single unit of 

prosecution into multiple charges. 

 

The double jeopardy clauses of the state and federal 

constitutions protect against multiple punishments for the same offense. 

Blockberger v. United States, 284 U.S. 299, 304, 52 S.Ct. 180, 76 L.Ed. 

306 (1932); In re Personal Restraint of Orange, 152 Wn.2d 795, 816, 

100 P.3d 291 (2004); U.S. Const. amend. 5; Const. art. I, § 9.5 “Double 

jeopardy concerns arise in the presence of multiple convictions, 

regardless of whether resulting sentences are imposed consecutively or 

                                            
5
  The double jeopardy clause of the federal constitution provides that no 

individual shall “be twice put in jeopardy of life or limb” for the same offense, 

and the Washington Constitution provides that no individual shall “be twice put 

in jeopardy for the same offense.”  U.S. Const. amend. 5; Const. art. I, § 9. 
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concurrently.” State v. Womac, 160 Wn.2d 643, 657, 160 P.3d 40 

(2007). 

When a person is charged with violating the same statutory 

provision a number of times, multiple convictions violate double 

jeopardy unless each conviction is predicated on a separate “unit of 

prosecution.” State v. Adel, 136 Wn.2d 629, 634-35, 965 P.3d 1072 

(2002). The prosecution may not divide conduct that constitutes a 

single unit of prosecution into multiple charges for which it seeks 

separate punishment. Id. 

Determining the unit of prosecution rests on how the statute 

defines the punishable act and is decided on a case by case basis. See 

Adel, 136 Wn.2d at 640 (Talmadge, J., concurring); State v. Gaworski, 

138 Wn.App. 141, 150, 156 P.3d 288 (2007). “If a statute does not 

clearly and unambiguously identify the unit of prosecution, then we 

resolve any ambiguity under the rule of lenity to avoid turning a single 

transaction into multiple offenses.” State v. Sutherby, 165 Wn.2d 870, 

878-79, 204 P.3d 916 (2009) (internal citations omitted). “Appellate 

review of the unit of prosecution is de novo” and a “double jeopardy 

challenge may be raised for the first time on appeal.” State v. Durrett, 

150 Wn.App. 402, 406, 208 P.3d 1174 (2009). 
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When assessing what offense the jury considered, the reviewing 

court must also review the jury instructions. The to-convict instruction 

“serves as a yardstick” defining the essential elements that the jury must 

find in order to convict the accused person. State v. France, 180 Wn.2d 

809, 815, 329 P.3d 864 (2014). If the jury is instructed that to convict 

the defendant, it must be persuaded of some element that is not part of 

the definition of the crime, the law of the case doctrine requires the 

State prove this element even if it would not otherwise be an essential 

element. Id.   

Underlying the deference given to the to-convict instruction is 

the strong protections accorded the right to a trial by jury and 

unanimous verdict under article I, sections 21 and 22. State v. Williams-

Walker, 167 Wn.2d 889, 896, 225 P.3d 913 (2010). A sentencing judge 

must take the jury’s finding at face value based on the facts the jury was 

asked to find. Id. at 897-99.    

 b.  The simultaneous conduct of possessing several 

controlled substances constitutes a single unit of 

prosecution under the law of the case.   

 

Mr. O’Cain was charged with six counts of possession with 

intent to deliver a controlled substance. CP 9-10. The jury received 

nearly identical to-convict instructions for each count. CP 148-53. For 
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example, for count 1, the jury was asked to decide, in pertinent part, 

whether the prosecution proved beyond a reasonable doubt: 

(1) That on or about October 14, 2013, the defendant 

possessed a controlled substance, separate and distinct 

from conduct in Counts 2, 3, 4, 5, and 6;  

(2) That the defendant possessed the substance with the 

intent to deliver a controlled substance.   

 

CP 148 (Instruction 16) (emphasis added). The prosecution drafted and 

proposed these instructions. Supp. CP   , sub. no. 66. 

None of the to-convict instructions named the controlled 

substance at issue. CP 148-53. None of the court’s instructions 

informed the jury that the difference between the six counts was the 

identity of the substance allegedly possessed. Instead, the instructions 

asked the jury to find that Mr. O’Cain engaged in “separate and 

distinct” “conduct” for each count. Id.  

The intent to deliver is the focus of the crime charged; mere 

possession is insufficient. State v. Goodman, 150 Wn.2d 774, 783, 83 

P.3d 410 (2004). Additional punishment attaches to the unlawful 

possession of a controlled substance if the State proves the accused 

person intends to deliver it. RCW 69.50.401(2). “Under this statute, it is 

unlawful to possess with intent to deliver any controlled substance, and 

for liability purposes, it does not matter what the specific controlled 
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substance is.” State v. Rodriguez, 61 Wn.App. 812, 817, 812 P.2d 868 

(1991) (emphasis in original).  

In Rodriguez, when deciding whether two convictions for 

possession with intent to deliver constitute the same criminal conduct, 

the court explained: 

if two counts are different only because different drugs 

were possessed, they involve the same intent - the intent 

to deliver a controlled substance. On the other hand, if 

two counts are different because the defendant intended 

to deliver illegal drugs in two different transactions, they 

involve different intents—an intent to deliver at the time 

and place of one transaction, and an intent to deliver at 

the time and place of the other transaction. 

Id. at 817; see also State v. Vike, 125 Wn.2d 407, 411-12, 885 P.2d 824 

(1994) (“when a person possesses two drugs with the intent to deliver, 

the defendant still has a single mental state”). 

  There was no evidence that Mr. O’Cain had distinct plans to use 

or dispose of the substances he simultaneously possessed. He was 

inside his apartment when the police stopped him and had some 

narcotics in his pocket and more of the same in his closet, along with

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