FILED

November 25, 2015 Court of Appeals Division I State of Washington

NO. 73191-2-I

COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

DIVISION I

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

٧.

JAMES OCAIN,

Appellant.

APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT FOR KING COUNTY

THE HONORABLE DEAN LUM

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

DANIEL T. SATTERBERG King County Prosecuting Attorney

> IAN ITH Deputy Prosecuting Attorney Attorneys for Respondent

King County Prosecuting Attorney W554 King County Courthouse 516 3rd Avenue Seattle, Washington 98104 (206) 477-9497

A. ISSUES PRESENTED

- 1. The State's privilege to protect the identity of an informant may give way to disclosure, at the trial court's discretion, if a defendant presents non-speculative information that casts a reasonable doubt on the veracity of material representations attributed to the informant in a search warrant affidavit, and the challenged statements were the sole basis for probable cause to issue the warrant. In Ocain's trial for possession with intent to deliver controlled substances — based upon evidence obtained from a search warrant supported by drug purchases by a confidential informant — Ocain sought to question the confidential informant to explore a speculation that the search-warrant affidavit might have been incorrect about the type of car Ocain drove to the drug deals, which detectives personally observed. Did the trial court exercise proper discretion in denying examination of the confidential informant?
- 2. Multiple convictions for possession with intent to deliver the same type of controlled substances do not violate double jeopardy if the evidence supports separate units of prosecution, meaning separate and distinct intents to deliver the type of drug.

 Multiple convictions for possession with intent to deliver different

types of controlled substances do not violate double jeopardy because each conviction implicates different statutory provisions and requires different evidence — the different types of drugs. A jury convicted Ocain of six counts of possession with intent to deliver controlled substances based on street-sale-sized packages of crack cocaine, methamphetamine and heroin found in his pocket, and supply-sized stashes of powdered cocaine, methamphetamine and heroin found in his bedroom safe along with unused packaging and scales. Did the evidence support separate and distinct intents for the separate situations of the same types of drugs? Were his convictions for different types of drugs based on different statutory provisions and different evidence?

B. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

1. PROCEDURAL FACTS

James Master Ocain¹ was charged by amended information with six counts of possession with intent to deliver controlled substances, all alleged to have occurred on or about October 14, 2015, in King County, Washington. CP 9. Count 1 alleged possession with intent to deliver cocaine, in violation of

¹ In Appellant's Opening Brief, the appellant's surname is spelled "O'Cain," with an apostrophe. However, the court documents throughout this case, and the title of the case here, do not use apostrophes. The State is matching the spelling in the court documents for consistency, but means no disrespect.

RCW 69.50.401(1), (2)(a). <u>Id.</u> Count 2 alleged possession with intent to deliver methamphetamine, in violation of RCW 69.50.401(1), (2)(b). <u>Id.</u> Count 3 alleged possession with intent to deliver heroin, in violation of RCW 69.50.401(1), (2)(a). <u>Id.</u> Count 4 alleged possession with intent to deliver cocaine, in violation of RCW 69.50.401(1), (2)(a). <u>Id.</u> Count 5 alleged possession with intent to deliver methamphetamine, in violation of RCW 69.50.401(1), (2)(b). <u>Id.</u> Count 6 alleged possession with intent to deliver heroin, in violation of RCW 69.50.401(1), (2)(a). <u>Id.</u>

A jury convicted Ocain as charged. CP 163-68. The court imposed a low-end standard-range sentence of 60 months in prison, based on an offender score of 8. CP 295, 297. The six convictions were deemed to be the same criminal conduct for sentencing purposes, and thus did not affect the offender score. CP 176, 294-301. Ocain timely appealed. CP 304.

2. SUBSTANTIVE FACTS

On October 7, 2013, after a confidential informant made a series of controlled drug purchases from Ocain, King County Sheriff's detectives obtained a search warrant for Ocain's person, his home at 10858 1st Avenue Southwest, apartment 2, in the Top Hat neighborhood of unincorporated King County, and his two cars,

a Cadillac and a Chevrolet. CP 106-07; 3RP 246.² On the evening of October 14, 2013, the team of six detectives and a supervising sergeant staked out the residence and observed Ocain and his wife arrive in a car. 3RP 250. Ocain's wife went inside, but Ocain lingered outside. 3RP 289. Another man approached, and he and Ocain went inside together. Id. A SWAT team immediately converged on the apartment and secured it and Ocain. 3RP 250, 289. Ocain was handcuffed and escorted outside. 3RP 290.

Two detectives searched Ocain pursuant to the search warrant. 3RP 252, 290; CP 106. Detective Thomas Calabrese reached into Ocain's jacket pocket and found:

- A wad of \$337 in cash. 4RP 253.
- A plastic sandwich bag with a large number of small rocks of crack cocaine, weighing 13 grams in total. 3RP 255-58; 4RP 426.
- Three small "dime" bags imprinted with golden skulls on a black background, each containing about 0.3 grams of methamphetamine. 3RP 262-64; 4RP 430.
- A baggie containing 16 small portions of black-tar heroin, each weighing about 0.14 grams and individually wrapped in torn plastic. 3RP 262; 4RP 428.

² The verbatim report of proceedings is divided into five sequentially numbered volumes, which are referred to here as 1RP (January 8, 2015); 2RP (January 12, 2015); 3RP (January 13, 2015); 4RP (January 14, 2015); and 5RP (January 16, 2015; February 10 and 27, 2015).

Detective Keith Martin discovered a keychain lanyard, holding several keys, around Ocain's neck. 3RP 290-92; Ex. 28, 34.

Meanwhile, inside the apartment, other detectives found a locked file cabinet in a closet in the master bedroom. 3RP 365; Ex. 27, 35. A key to the file cabinet was on Ocain's lanyard, and the detectives opened the drawers. Id. Inside was a fireproof document safe, a plastic plate likely used as a cutting board for taking small pieces off larger portions of drugs, a box of sandwich bags, digital scales for weighing amounts less than a gram, receipts from wiring money, and a package of multiple unused "dime" bags with the same golden-skull imprints as the dime bags in Ocain's pocket. 3RP 373, 397-405.

The document safe was locked, but the key was on Ocain's lanyard. 3RP 373. Inside the safe, detectives found:

- An envelope with \$3,470 in cash.³ 3RP 378; 4RP 460.
- A single plastic bag holding 66.3 grams of powdered cocaine, compressed into a brick shape. 3RP 382;
 4RP 432. The compressed brick allows small amounts to be carved off without losing its shape. 3RP 382.
- A pill container holding a single baggie of 28 grams of methamphetamine. 3RP 386-88; 4RP 435.

³ Detective Sergeant Raphael Crenshaw testified that the total amount of cash from the safe and Ocain's jacket pocket was \$3,807, and Detective Calabrese testified that he took \$337 from Ocain's pocket, so the cash in the safe totaled \$3,470. 3RP 253; 4RP 460.

- A single baggie containing a 27-gram lump of black-tar heroin. 3RP 385; 4RP 432-33.
- Assorted pills, some of which looked like methadone.
 3RP 389.
- More unused golden-skull dime bags. 3RP 390-91.
- A bag of marijuana and a marijuana pipe that would not be used to smoke heroin, methamphetamine or cocaine. 3RP 393-95.
- Two more digital scales, one with drug residue on it. 3RP 377, 379-81.

No other controlled substances or evidence of drug use were located in the apartment or in Ocain's vehicles, except for a half-smoked marijuana cigarette in a smaller bedroom. 3RP 268, 297, 352, 353. Numerous documents bearing Ocain's name and the apartment address were seized from the master bedroom where the filing cabinet was. 3RP 335-40.

Detective Sgt. Raphael Crenshaw testified from his training and experience that heroin, cocaine and methamphetamine are typically sold in fractions of a gram, consistent with the packaged drugs in Ocain's pocket. 4RP 455-56, 462-67. Crenshaw testified about the street-level value of the three types of drugs. 4RP 462-67. For example, just one of the many pebbles of crack

cocaine in Ocain's pocket would be worth about \$20.4 Each of the 16 small pieces of heroin in Ocain's pocket would fetch about \$10 or \$15. 4RP 464. Each 0.3-gram golden-skull baggie of methamphetamine would sell for \$20 to \$25. 4RP 455.

Additional relevant facts are provided as applicable to the arguments to follow.

C. <u>ARGUMENT</u>

 THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY DENIED EXAMINATION OF THE CONFIDENTIAL INFORMANT.

Ocain complains that his ability to challenge the search warrant in his case was improperly frustrated when the court denied an *in camera* examination of the confidential informant. Ocain speculates that because one of his cars was in and out of a repair shop during the general period of time of the drug sales, quizzing the informant about the drug deals might have revealed falsity in the detective's search-warrant affidavit.

The trial court properly exercised its discretion in denying

Ocain what would have been nothing more than a fishing

expedition. An *in camera* examination of a confidential informant

⁴ Crenshaw said that crack cocaine sells in pieces weighing from 0.1 to 0.2 grams. 4RP 463. The crack cocaine in Ocain's pocket weighed 13 grams. So that was approximately 65 to 130 portions, or \$1,300 to \$2,600.

was inappropriate to Ocain's allegations, because the type of car that he drove to the drug deals was provided by the detective himself from personal observation, not the informant. In fact, Ocain's auto-repair invoices do not establish any inconsistency in the search warrant affidavit at all. And overarching Ocain's untenable argument is the simple fact that the type of car he used in the drug deals was entirely immaterial to the finding of probable cause for the warrant to search his person and home, where the drugs were found. His argument fails.

- Additional Relevant Facts.
 - i. The search-warrant affidavit.

The search warrant in this case was signed October 7, 2013, by The Honorable Peter Nault, a King County district court judge, based on an affidavit of probable cause by Detective Keith Martin. CP 106-17. The affidavit recounted that the investigation of Ocain began "in the middle of September 2013," when a confidential informant (CI) told Martin that a man called "Master J" — quickly identified as Ocain — was dealing drugs in the Burien and White Center areas. CP 109.

During the "later weeks of September 2013," Detective

Martin enlisted the CI to buy crack cocaine from Ocain. CP 110. At

the agreed location, Martin and his partners watched as Ocain walked up to the CI's vehicle, got in and sold crack to the CI. Id.

After the drug deal, Ocain walked to a vehicle about 12 feet from Martin and got in the driver's seat. Id. From Martin's remarkably close vantage point, he watched another man approach Ocain and openly purchase several rocks of crack cocaine from Ocain. CP 110-11. The detectives then followed Ocain as he drove to another location and made an exchange with two other men. CP 111. The affidavit does not say what kind of vehicle Ocain was driving on this occasion. CP 110-11.

On a second occasion also "in the later weeks of September," the CI arranged another crack-cocaine purchase with Ocain. CP 111. The meeting location was omitted from the affidavit to protect the CI. <u>Id.</u> At this location, the CI's vehicle was observed by Martin and Detective Watkins. <u>Id.</u> A short time later, another detective saw Ocain leave his apartment, and followed him to the meeting location. <u>Id.</u> The "exact means of transportation" was omitted from the affidavit "to better insulate the CI." <u>Id.</u> Ocain soon arrived at the meeting location and sold crack to the CI "in full

view of Watkins." CP 113.⁵ Detectives then followed Ocain back to his apartment. <u>Id.</u>

Then, in the "the last week" before the writing of the search-warrant affidavit on October 7, 2013,⁶ Martin and other detectives watched as the CI met with Ocain again. CP 113-14. This time, the affidavit specified that Ocain arrived in his Cadillac, and Martin observed Ocain in the driver's seat as he sold crack to the CI. CP 114. Also during this "last week" before the affidavit, Martin drove past Ocain's apartment and saw Ocain's Cadillac in back and Ocain's Chevrolet Cavalier parked in front. CP 114.

Finally, in the "last 72 hours" before the search warrant affidavit was written,⁷ the CI again arranged to buy crack from Ocain. CP 115. A detective followed Ocain as he drove the Chevrolet Cavalier from his apartment to the meeting location, where detectives Martin and Watkins watched Ocain sell crack to the CI. Id.

⁵ The search warrant affidavit that was attached to the State's Response To Defense Motion Challenging Search Warrant Probable Cause has a photocopying error, with an extra page 6 of the affidavit appearing between pages 4 and 5. CP 111-14. This makes the affidavit somewhat difficult to follow unless CP 112 (the extra page 6) is skipped.

⁶ The "last week" before October 7, 2013, was September 29 through October 6.

⁷ October 4-6, 2013.

ii. Ocain's motion to examine the informant.

Pretrial, Ocain moved for *in camera* questioning of the confidential informant to "resolve concerns about Detective Martin's veracity." CP 16. Ocain complained that Martin had refused to discuss the informant with the defense, and refused to "disclose the exact dates" of the drug transactions. CP 12. Ocain alleged to have invoices showing that "at least one of Mr. Ocain's cars was in a repair shop for most of the time when Detective Martin claims to have seen it used in drug transactions." Id.

But Ocain initially refused to present the invoices, alleging in court that if Detective Martin were to see the invoices, he would commit perjury to square the timing of the drug deals with the invoices. 1RP 8-9. Still, Ocain alleged that the invoices would prove that "one of the cars that Detective Martin claims was used in these transactions could not possibly have been used in these transactions." 1RP 20-21.

Additionally, Ocain called Martin a "known liar and a known racist," based on disciplinary history from about 15 years prior. CP 15-93. Ocain contended that the search warrant was improperly issued because Martin did not disclose these disciplinary incidents

to the issuing judge. CP 15. Ocain averred that he had made the "minimal showing of inconsistency" to entitle him to question the informant. CP16.

The trial court denied Ocain's motion because Ocain's request for disclosure was made "basically on a speculative basis." 1RP 29. The trial court summarized Ocain's contentions as "speculating that perhaps, if the confidential informant were interviewed about the circumstances surrounding the controlled buys, that perhaps ... there might be an inconsistency regarding which of the cars were used." Id.

The court also noted that because the affidavit was unspecific about the dates of the drug sales, "it's hard to see any kind of inconsistency," especially with Ocain unwilling to present the invoices. 1RP 30. Moreover, the court said, even if there were an inconsistency about the vehicles, it would not be material to determining probable cause. <u>Id.</u> The trial court offered Ocain an opportunity to challenge probable cause based on the "four corners" of the affidavit, but Ocain declined. 1RP 31.

Ocain's motion to file the invoices under seal was denied, so Ocain then submitted them in a motion to reconsider. CP 94-95, 119-24. The invoices show that Ocain's Cadillac was checked into

a dealership from the afternoon of September 21 to the afternoon of September 26; then again from about 9 a.m. to about 1 p.m. on October 1; and lastly from the morning of October 4 to the afternoon of October 11. CP 122-24. The invoices do not address Ocain's Chevrolet. Id.

The court denied Ocain's motion to reconsider. 1RP 86.

The court concluded that even with the invoices, there was "no showing of materiality," and "no showing of falsity," and "for us to get to the minimal showing of inconsistency" as required to examine the informant, "there has to be an inconsistency, and there's none here." 1RP 85.

b. The Trial Court Exercised Sound Discretion In Denying Ocain's Motion To Examine The Informant.

To establish probable cause, a search-warrant affidavit must set forth "sufficient facts to convince a reasonable person of the probability the defendant is engaged in criminal activity and that evidence of criminal activity can be found at the place to be searched." State v. Lyons, 174 Wn.2d 354, 359, 275 P.3d 314 (2012). A search warrant enjoys a presumption of validity, and courts give great deference to the magistrate's determination of probable cause. State v. Chenoweth, 160 Wn.2d 454, 477, 158

P.3d 595 (2007). Review is usually limited to the four corners of the affidavit supporting probable cause. <u>State v. Neth</u>, 165 Wn.2d 177, 182, 196 P.3d 658 (2008).

In limited circumstances, a defendant may be entitled to a so-called <u>Franks</u> hearing to challenge the truthfulness of factual statements made in an affidavit supporting a search warrant.

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